
 
 

C O U N C I L  

R E V I S E D  A G E N D A   
All Members of the Council are 

HEREBY SUMMONED 
to attend a meeting of the Council 

to be held on: 
Wednesday, 14 September 2022 at 7.00 pm 

  Hackney Town Hall,  
Mare Street, E8 1EA 

 
The live stream can be viewed here: 

https://youtu.be/qkDopqdhkmc 
 

Backup link: https://youtu.be/yTrfnENb-bk 
 

  
 
Mark Carroll  
Chief Executive 
9 September 2022 
www.hackney.gov.uk 

Contact: Natalie Williams  
Governance Officer 

governance@hackney.gov.uk 
 
 

 
Following the death of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II and the 
beginning of a period of national mourning, substantive changes 
have been made to this agenda since its publication on 6 
September. This revised agenda allows for the transaction of  
essential business only. 

https://youtu.be/qkDopqdhkmc
https://youtu.be/yTrfnENb-bk
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/
mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

MEETING OF COUNCIL 
WEDNESDAY, 14 SEPTEMBER 2022 

REVISED ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

A  one minutes’ silence will be observed in memory of 
Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II 

 
 

1 Apologies for Absence   
 
2 Declarations of Interest   
 

Members are invited to consider the guidance which accompanies this 
agenda and make declarations of interests as appropriate. 

 
3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 7 - 36) 
 
3.1       To consider the minutes of the Council meeting held on 20 July 2022 
 
4 Elected Mayor's Statement   
 
5 Standards Committee Annual Report 2021/22  (Pages 37 - 46) 
 

Report of the Director of Legal, Democratic & Electoral Services and 
Monitoring Officer – Enclosed 

 
 

Should the meeting extend beyond 8.30pm, a break will take place for 
approximately 15 minutes to enable the Speaker’s requests for prayers 
to be accommodated. 
 
Dates of Future Meetings  
 
Members are requested to note the dates of Full Council meetings for 2022/23. 
All meetings of Full Council will commence at 7.00pm and are scheduled as follows: 
 

• 23 November 2022 
• 25 January 2023 
• 1 March 2023 
• 17 May 2023 (Annual Meeting) 

 
 
 
 



 
 

Public Attendance  
 
Following the lifting of all Covid-19 restrictions by the Government and the Council 
updating its assessment of access to its buildings, the Town Hall is now open to the 
public and members of the public may attend meetings of the Council. 
 
We recognise, however, that you may find it more convenient to observe the meeting 
via the live-stream facility, the link for which appears on the agenda front sheet.  
 
We would ask that if you have either tested positive for Covid-19 or have any 
symptoms that you do not attend the meeting, but rather use the livestream facility. If 
this applies and you are attending the meeting to ask a question, make a deputation 
or present a petition then you may contact the Officer named at the beginning of the 
Agenda and they will be able to make arrangements for the Chair of the meeting to 
ask the question, make the deputation or present the petition on your behalf.  
 
The Council will continue to ensure that access to our meetings is in line with any 
Covid-19 restrictions that may be in force from time to time and also in line with 
public health advice. The latest general advice can be found here - 
https://hackney.gov.uk/coronavirus-support  
 
Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings   
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 give the public the 
right to film, record audio, take photographs, and use social media and the internet at 
meetings to report on any meetings that are open to the public. 
 
By attending a public meeting of the Council, Executive, any committee or sub-
committee, any Panel or Commission, or any Board you are agreeing to these 
guidelines as a whole and in particular the stipulations listed below: 
 

• Anyone planning to record meetings of the Council and its public meetings 
through any audio, visual or written methods they find appropriate can do so 
providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting;  

• You are welcome to attend a public meeting to report proceedings, either in 
‘real time’ or after conclusion of the meeting, on a blog, social networking site, 
news forum or other online media;  

• You may use a laptop, tablet device, smartphone or portable camera to record 
a written or audio transcript of proceedings during the meeting; 

• Facilities within the Town Hall and Council Chamber are limited and recording 
equipment must be of a reasonable size and nature to be easily 
accommodated. 

• You are asked to contact the Officer whose name appears at the beginning of 
this Agenda if you have any large or complex recording equipment to see 
whether this can be accommodated within the existing facilities;  

• You must not interrupt proceedings and digital equipment must be set to 
‘silent’ mode;  

• You should focus any recording equipment on Councillors, officers and the 
public who are directly involved in the conduct of the meeting. The Chair of 
the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they have objections 
to being visually recorded. Those visually recording a meeting are asked to 
respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed. 

https://hackney.gov.uk/coronavirus-support


 
 

Failure to respect the wishes of those who do not want to be filmed and 
photographed may result in the Chair instructing you to cease reporting or 
recording and you may potentially be excluded from the meeting if you fail to 
comply;  

• Any person whose behaviour threatens to disrupt orderly conduct will be 
asked to leave;   

• Be aware that libellous comments against the council, individual Councillors 
or officers could result in legal action being taken against you; 

• The recorded images must not be edited in a way in which there is a clear aim 
to distort the truth or misrepresent those taking part in the proceedings; 

• Personal attacks of any kind or offensive comments that target or disparage 
any ethnic, racial, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability status 
could also result in legal action being taken against you. 

 
Failure to comply with the above requirements may result in the support and 
assistance of the Council in the recording of proceedings being withdrawn. The 
Council regards violation of any of the points above as a risk to the orderly conduct 
of a meeting. The Council therefore reserves the right to exclude any person from 
the current meeting and refuse entry to any further council meetings, where a breach 
of these requirements occurs. The Chair of the meeting will ensure that the meeting 
runs in an effective manner and has the power to ensure that the meeting is not 
disturbed through the use of flash photography, intrusive camera equipment or the 
person recording the meeting moving around the room. 
 
Advice to Members on Declaring Interests  
 
If you require advice on declarations of interests, this can be obtained from: 
 

• The Monitoring Officer; 
• The Deputy Monitoring Officer; or 
• The legal adviser to the meeting. 

 
It is recommended that any advice be sought in advance of, rather than at, the 
meeting. 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) 
 
You will have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (*DPI) if it: 
 

• Relates to your employment, sponsorship, contracts as well as wider financial 
interests and assets including land, property, licenses and corporate 
tenancies. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner. 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
If you are present at any meeting of the Council and you have a DPI relating to any 
business that will be considered at the meeting, you must: 

• Not seek to improperly influence decision-making on that matter; 



 
 

• Make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent; and 

• Leave the room whilst the matter is under consideration 
 
You must not: 
 

• Participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business; or 

• Participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 
 
If you have obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards 
Committee prior to the matter being considered, then you should make a verbal 
declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI and that you have obtained a 
dispensation. The dispensation granted will explain the extent to which you are able 
to participate.  
 
 
Other Registrable Interests 
 
You will have an ‘Other Registrable Interest’ (ORI) in a matter if it 
 

• Relates to appointments made by the authority to any outside bodies, 
membership of: charities, trade unions,, lobbying or campaign groups, 
voluntary organisations in the borough or governorships at any educational 
institution within the borough. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner; 
or 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects a body or 
organisation you have named in that part of the Register of Interests Form relating to 
ORIs, you must make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at 
or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 
been granted a dispensation.  
 
Disclosure of Other Interests 
 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which directly relates to your 
financial interest or well-being or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must 
not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 



 
 

Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects your financial 
interest or well-being, or a financial interest of well-being of a relative or close 
associate to a greater extent than it affects the financial interest or wellbeing of the 
majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and a reasonable 
member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect your 
view of the wider public interest, you must declare the interest. You may only speak 
on the matter if members of the public are able to speak. Otherwise you must not 
take part in any discussion or voting on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
In all cases, where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that the interest in question is a 
sensitive interest, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest itself. 



London Borough of Hackney
Full Council Meeting
Municipal Year 2022/23
Date of Meeting: Wednesday, 20 July 2022

Councillors in
Attendance:

Cllr Humaira Garasia - Speaker of Hackney
Mayor Philip Glanville - Mayor of Hackney

Cllr Kam Adams, Cllr Grace Adebayo, Cllr Soraya Adejare,
Cllr Frank Baffour, Cllr Polly Billington,
Cllr Alastair Binnie-Lubbock,
Deputy Mayor Anntoinette Bramble, Cllr Mete Coban,
Cllr Sophie Conway, Cllr Michael Desmond, Cllr Sade Etti,
Cllr Susan Fajana-Thomas, Cllr Zoë Garbett,
Cllr Eluzer Goldberg, Cllr Ben Hayhurst, Cllr Clare Joseph,
Cllr Christopher Kennedy, Cllr Shaul Krautwirt,
Cllr Lee Laudat-Scott, Cllr Hershy Lisser, Cllr Richard Lufkin,
Cllr Anna Lynch, Cllr Yvonne Maxwell,
Cllr Clayeon McKenzie, Cllr Jon Narcross,
Cllr Guy Nicholson, Cllr Joseph Ogundemuren,
Cllr Deniz Okkkguzkanli, Cllr Benzion Papier,
Cllr Sharon Patrick, Cllr Clare Potter, Cllr Steve Race,
Cllr Ian Rathbone, Cll Ali Sadek, Cllr Ifraax Samatar,
Cllr Anya Sizer, Cllr Gilbert Smyth, Cllr Simche Steinberger,
Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge, Cllr Lynne Troughton,
Cllr Claudia Turbet-Delof, Cllr Joe Walker, Cllr Jessica Webb,
Cllr Carole Williams, Cllr Caroline Woodley,
Cllr Penny Wrout and Cllr Sarah Young

Apologies for
Absence:

Apologies for
Lateness:

Cllr Robert Chapman, Cllr Margaret Gordon,
Cllr Sem Moema, Cllr M Can Ozsen, Cllr Sam Pallis,
Cllr Fliss Premru, Cllr Midnight Ross and
Cllr Caroline Selman

Deputy Mayor Bramble, Cllr Adejare, Cllr Joseph and Cllr
Maxwell

 

Officer Contact: Natalie Williams, Governance Officer
governance@hackney.gov.uk

This meeting was live streamed and can be viewed here:
https://youtu.be/0u699eJpoLI

Page 7

Agenda Item 3

mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk
https://youtu.be/0u699eJpoLI


Wednesday,  20 July 2022

Councillor Garasia [Speaker] in the Chair

1. Apologies for Absence

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Chapman, Gordon,
Moema, Ozsen, Pallis, Premru, Ross and Selman.
 

1.2 Apologies for lateness were received from Deputy Mayor Bramble, Cllr Adejare,
Cllr Joseph and Cllr Maxwell
 

1.3 Councillors Gordon, Ozsen, Pallis and Premru had joined the meeting remotely.
They were reminded that they were not counted as being ‘present’ for the
purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 and were not able to vote on any
item under consideration.

2. Speaker’s Announcements

2.1 The Speaker informed Council of recent civic events and visits, which included:
a Platinum Jubilee community celebration at Springfield Park followed by
lighting a Beacon at the Hackney Empire, Hackney Chinese Community
Dragon boat festival, E5 Baby Bank second anniversary event, the
commemoration of refugee week and the Hackney Armed Forces parade.

 
2.2 The Speaker had also attended several events recognising National Windrush

Day, including the unveiling of the Warm Shores sculpture by Thomas J Price
outside the Town Hall.

 
2.3 The Speaker would be hosting her first charity dinner to fundraise for St Mary’s

Secret Garden on 28 July. The dinner would also be an Eid celebration and
would be attended by other Mayors from across London. Further information
and tickets were available from the Speaker’s Office.

 
2.4 Following the Speaker’s announcements, a one minute silence was observed in

remembrance of the victims and survivors of the Srebrenica massacre of over
8000 Bosnian Muslims in 1995. Srebrenica Memorial Day was observed on 11
July.

3. Declarations of Interest

3.1 There were no declarations of Interest.

4. Minutes of the Previous Meeting

4.1 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Annual Meeting of Council held on 25
May 2022 be agreed as a true and accurate record of proceedings.

Page 8



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

5 Questions from Members of the Public

5.1 Question from Tyrone Scott to the Cabinet Member for Environment and
Transport

 
The Council declared a climate emergency in 2019 and promised a Biodiversity
Officer in 2020 - this role is important, is there an update on the recruitment to
this post and other posts to deliver the climate action plan?
 
In the absence of Tyrone, the Speaker read his question as set out, following
which a response was provided by the Cabinet Member.
 
Response from the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport

Cllr Coban explained that the appointment of a Biodiversity Officer formed part
of an initiative to integrate the Housing Grounds Maintenance and the Parks &
Green Spaces Services. This integration was put on hold during the pandemic,
but would progress in 2022/23, including the appointment of a Biodiversity
Officer to deliver work across the integrated service.
 
Affirming the wider commitment to the Climate Action Plan (CAP), Cllr Coban
highlighted that the newly formed Climate, Homes and Economy Directorate to
which a Group Director had been appointed, saw the required collaboration
between inclusive economic growth, skills, regeneration, housing, climate
change, public realm and environmental services.
 
As part of the development of each of the thematic action plans within the CAP 
there would be an assessment of staff resources needed to deliver its
objectives. The Council had taken the opportunity to better use existing staff
resources as well as reskilling to meet the added requirements. Five staff had
been retrained to become retrofit coordinators in housing services to strengthen
the technical capacity for retrofit.

 
5.2 Question from Matt Davies to the Cabinet Member for Families, Parks and

Leisure
 

I welcomed the Council’s ambitious proposals for nature recovery in last year’s
Green Infrastructure Strategy, particularly proposed improvements in north
Hackney including the long-awaited replacement of the Stoke Newington
gyratory and new green links along Northwold and Dunsmure roads. When will
we begin to see this put into action?
 
Response from the Cabinet Member for Families, Parks and Leisure

Cllr Woodley gave assurances that improvements were planned across the
entire borough. She thanked officers for the research and partnership approach
and to Hackney volunteers who planted trees, built habitats, litter picked,
restored damaged areas and all their efforts in tackling the Climate Emergency.
 
The Green Infrastructure Strategy was put out for consultation earlier in the
year and would be brought forward for adoption later in the year. Cllr Woodley
reported that Hackney was one of the greenest inner London boroughs. The
Council continued to deliver projects that contributed to the outcomes of the

Page 9



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

strategy, including: completing a street tree programme increasing street tree
canopy to 30%, installing rain gardens to mitigate areas of flood risk and
completing a wide number of improvements across all the open spaces
managed by the Council making them better for both people and nature.
 
In reference to the Stoke Newington Gyratory and other major projects, Cllr
Woodley advised that these had been delayed due to the current state of
finances at Transport for London (TfL), a major funder. It was difficult to predict
when this would be progressed, however the Council continued to make the
case for its ongoing priority and suggested improvements which would be of
immediate effect.
 
Acknowledging that local government would be entering a period of further
financial austerity, assurances were given that the Council would be using its
ingenuity to work within the constraints and had already been successful in a
number of external funding applications.
 

5.3 Question from Peter Snell to the Mayoral Adviser for Housing Needs and
Homelessness

 
I have read that there is a refurbishment of Cape House in Dalston. What
support is the Council putting in place for residents needing to relocate during
the refurbishment and what is the time frame for completion?

 
Response from the Mayoral Adviser for Housing Needs and Homelessness

 
Cllr Etti highlighted the administration's manifesto commitment to refurbish
temporary accommodation hostels to meet the growing needs of single
homeless people and families in the borough.
 
Cape House was a privately owned hostel which had been used for temporary
accommodation for approximately 20 years. In February 2022, Cabinet agreed
to extend the lease, enabling them to oversee the improvements. The
renovations would see the building of self-contained units including two units
designed for disabled residents.

The premises consisted of two blocks which would be refurbished separately-
one of which had been fully decanted. Residents in temporary accommodation
placed by the Council were moved to other placements, whilst placements from
other Councils were moved back to their respective placing boroughs. Private
tenants were able to contact the Benefits & Housing Needs Service for tailored
housing advice. A temporary accommodation visiting officer made regular visits
to provide support and answer questions. The Council was continuing to assist
in decanting the remaining block, with a phased approach which started on 28
June 2022. This allowed the Council time to provide tailored advice to tenants.
It was anticipated that work on this block would take 12 months and the total
project approximately 2 years to complete.

Page 10



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

6. Questions from Members of the Council

6.1 Question from Cllr Anya Sizer to the Cabinet Member for Health, Adult Social
Care, Voluntary Sector and Culture

Hackney Council’s Hoxton Street Market is a great place to buy food and a hub
for the whole Hoxton community. But it has also helped tackle food poverty,
accepting Council food vouchers, such as Alexandra Rose Vouchers, for some
of our most vulnerable residents in Hackney. Can the Cabinet Member with
responsibility for food justice outline the other measures the Council has taken
to address food poverty in our borough, what it is doing to fight for food justice
for all, and the steps it is taking to make Hackney a Right to Food Borough?

 
Response from the Cabinet Member for Health, Adult Social Care, Voluntary
Sector and Culture

 
Cllr Kennedy commended the important role that Hackney’s street markets
played in providing affordable healthy food and their acceptance of Alexander
Rose vouchers. Following Covid, the Council created the Community
Partnership Network, which had been used to coordinate activity including:
surplus food delivery to three food hubs, continued grant funding of Alexander
Rose, the continued grant funding of Hackney Food Bank, provision of a
voluntary sector lease for the food bank’s main depot at the Florence Bennet
Centre and the use of Queensbridge Sports centre as a distribution hub.

 
The Council had identified residents who were likely to be struggling and the
£2.8m household support fund was being used to support these residents. The
Council had also supported initiatives such as the development of a food co-op
in Stoke Newington, with a second one opening in Woodberry Down and food
growing organisations such as Gainsborough Bridge where council land had
been licensed for residents to  grow food.

 
In reference to campaigning, Cllr Kennedy outlined the various measures
undertaken by the Council. It was noted that Hackney had declared itself a
Right to Food Borough and had made requests to the Government to help
combat food poverty alongside other local authorities. In addition, the Council 
had joined the Marcus Rashford campaign for holiday food and the call for
continuing the uplift to Universal Credit.

 
Concluding, Cllr Kennedy stated that the one thing that would make the most
difference to food poverty was a Labour Government.

 
6.2 Question from Cllr Zoë Garbett to the Mayor
 

Developers failed to bring forward a plan for the Morning Lane Tesco site and
the agreement has expired. What is the latest plan for the site?

 
Response from the Mayor

 
Mayor Glanville stated that the Council bought the site in 2017 to have more
control over a central area in the borough following the Tesco Extra-Tesco
Towers' failed planning bid. The Council’s intention was to safeguard a

Page 11



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

supermarket for residents, to ensure the site was under public ownership and to
play a pivotal role in shaping plans for the site through an option agreement.

 
The Mayor explained that extensive time had been spent engaging with local
residents regarding what they would like to see from their town centre. He
acknowledged that these conversations were not developer-led; subsequently,
a proposal was not brought forward to the Planning Sub-Committee under the
option agreement. This resulted in the option ending and the site reverting to
the Council.

 
Looking ahead, Mayor Glanville advised that the Council had been engaging
with stakeholders including Tesco, other local businesses, Morning Lane
People’s Space and the Markets Team. The Council had started the process to
actualise ambitions for the site and had begun training an in-house team to
support any proposals going forward. The process to appoint a new,
experienced development partner to work with the Council to incorporate its
ambitions and that of the community would begin later in the year. As well as
retaining a Tesco store, any development would have a green infrastructure, be
compliant with the Council’s planning policy and include: new homes, affordable
homes, workspace, new local jobs, and improved public spaces for Hackney
Central.

 
Concluding, the Mayor pledged that the Council would be a strategic part of any
development partnership and have much greater control over plans taken
forward for the site, ensuring the investment was of benefit to local residents
and saw a return.

 
Supplementary Question

 
Will requests from community groups to be resourced and the residents’ top
priorities for the site, which included fifty percent social housing, be
considered?

 
The Mayor advised that the Council would not resource any community groups;
however they would be fully included in the steering group as a partner. He
outlined the dangers of a solely community-led plan and stated that the priority
was to resource a team that could work with the development partner to
achieve the objectives of both the community and Council. The Mayor stated
that it would not be viable to deliver on the request for fifty percent social
housing on a site that was not previously in public ownership if it was to achieve
all the other ambitions and also see a return on the £60m public investment.
However, he committed to further investigate the possibilities of the requests.
 

6.3 Question from Cllr Joseph Ogundemuren to the Cabinet Member for
Environment and Transport

What will the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport be doing to
ensure the Council are requesting Transport for London provide full details of its
equality and diversity impact assessments in relation to the proposed bus cuts
and how these negatively affect Hackney residents?

 
Response from the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport

 
Page 12



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

Cllr Coban acknowledged that with no tube station in the borough, buses were
an integral, affordable and sustainable mode of transport which kept
communities connected and linked to the rest of the city. 

 
Cllr Coban confirmed that Equality Impact Assessments had been released by
Transport for London (TfL). It confirmed the proposed bus cuts would
disproportionately affect the global majority, those on low income, the elderly,
and those with mobility issues. This would be highlighted in the Council’s
corporate response. The Council would also raise concerns about poor
interchange connections at Old Street between bus stops and concerns relating
to the impact of cutting back the 236 bus route to Homerton Hospital from
Hackney Wick - one of the most deprived areas in the country. It was felt that
this was at a time when there should be improved links to hospitals and GP
surgeries.

 
Concluding, Cllr Coban stated that TfL was being used as a political pawn by
the Government and pledged that the Council would keep campaigning against
these destructive cuts. He urged Members and residents to sign the Hackney
Labour Group petition and respond to the TfL consultation on bus cuts which
had been extended to  7 August 2022 due to high response rates.

 
6.4 Question from Cllr Zoë Garbett to the Mayor
 

The development of Ridley Road Studios has seen a loss of genuinely
affordable studio space. Given how few artists are returning, what will you do to
ensure Dalston remains a place for all artists, not just the ones who can afford
to pay ever increasing market rent?

 
Cllr Garbett informed the chamber that the Mayor had provided a written
response to this question outside of the meeting but welcomed the opportunity
for a more detailed response in the public domain.

Response from the Mayor
 

Mayor Glanville outlined the timeline of events and actions by the Council and
community following the police issuing of a Community Protection Notice and
the building owners' decision to close by Christmas 2018. He stated that the
resolute actions led by his administration resulted in the market remaining
open, Ridley Road Shopping Village designated as an Asset of Community
Value (ACV) and the landlord’s change of plans to largely external work, leaving
the existing floor space in place

 
The Mayor explained that the ACV process would become most relevant in
legal terms if the asset was put up for sale and did not affect the owner’s ability
to seek planning permission for change of use.

 
The Mayor informed the chamber that the Council’s Markets Team had leased
the ground floor of the shopping village, taking over the existing micro-retail
units which enabled the Council to have a stake in the building and protect the
provision of small retail units at affordable levels for Shopping Village traders.
Commending the work of former Cllr Peter Snell (and at the time prospective)
Cllr Grace Adebayo, who worked on the ACV with the community group Save

Page 13



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

Ridley Road was cited as an example of community power and leadership used
to secure a community asset and create an inclusive economy.

Officers had been in direct contact with the artists in the shopping village over
recent years and supported them in finding new spaces in the local area. The
works proposed by the landlord were relatively minor external works and did
not trigger the Local Plan affordable workspace policies which would have
made the provision of 10% of affordable workspace necessary.

 
The Mayor reported that the Council continued to engage with the landlord,
Shopping Village and studio space tenants through the planning process and
through Area Regeneration Officers. While the proposed rent levels were an
increase, they were below market rents in the area and below the affordable
rents set by many other workspace providers in Dalston.

 
The Mayor stated that the artistic and creative community and businesses
were vital to the borough and the Council continued to do all it could to ensure
they grew and prospered.

 
In conclusion, Mayor Glanville stated that the Council had no role in setting the
market rate for rent; as it did not own the land or control the building. The
Council could not control rent levels beyond what it could do through its own
property portfolio and through the planning process. However, the Council was
campaigning with the East End Trades Guild on market rents, business rates
and lasting reforms that would assist in shaping town centres.

Supplementary Question
 

Would spaces like Hackney Walk be made available to groups, artists and
community groups to use as a meanwhile space as well as community
ownership?

 
The Mayor stated that he was passionate about meanwhile spaces and what
could be achieved citing new and existing examples of this across the borough.
He reported that the Council continued to assess its land and building holdings
to see how they could be unlocked in a meanwhile way. In reference to
Hackney Walk, it was explained that the Council did not have ownership of the
site. The Council was interceding with the owners of visibly empty retail spaces
working to bring them back into use. This formed part of a levelling up bid for
Hackney Central Town Centre.

 
6.5 Question from Cllr Grace Adebayo to the Cabinet Member for Community

Safety and Regulatory Services
 

The Mayor rightly condemned the distressing scenes around the police
operation on moped crime that took place in Dalston in May. Can the Cabinet
Member for Community Safety and Regulatory Services outline what
engagement she has had to hold the local police to account, and what the
Council is doing to restore trust and confidence in policing among local
residents?

Page 14



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

Response from the Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Regulatory
Services

 
Cllr Fajana-Thomas stated that following the police operation, she had met with
Detective Chief Superintendent Marcus Barnett to raise concerns. She was
subsequently informed that the police operation in Ashwin Street was in direct
response to a number of community complaints about scooter and e-scooter
riders gathering in large numbers and on a frequent basis causing anti-social
behaviour. At the time, there was also an unrelated event in Gillett Square,
which saw a gathering of over 300 people.
 
Cllr Fajana-Thomas informed the chamber that she had been assured that this
was not an operation to address immigration and the Border Agency was not
involved or present. An individual who was arrested was initially stopped for a
non immigaration issue, but was found to be wanted for arrest for an
immigartion offence.
 
Meeting with Detective Chief Superintendent Marcus Barnett, Cllr
Fajana-Thomas had made it clear that it was an error of judgement to have
carried out the operation at a time when there was a major event in Gillett
Square. She also expressed disappointment that the Council’s Community
Safety Team was not made aware of the operation beforehand.
 
Cllr Fajana-Thomas outlined the work that was being undertaken with the police
to improve trust and confidence, which in summary included:

 
● A review of 796 stop and search encounters.
● A review of the current London-wide Safer Neighbourhood Board

(SNB) structure commissioned by the Mayor’s Office for Policing and
Crime with an emphasis on greater community representation and
enhanced accountability.

● Reinvigoration of the Police Ward Panels
● The development of a Trust and Confidence Action Plan to improve

trust and confidence in policing, with delivery monitored by the
Community Safety Partnership Statutory Officer Group.

● Review of the police’s use of Section 60 Stop and Search, supporting
greater accountability.

● Trust and confidence in policing to be a standing agenda item of the
Community Resilience Partnership, chaired by Cllr Fajana-Thomas

 
Questions that were not taken at the meeting due to time constraints, and where a
written response was to be provided are attached at Appendix A.

7. Elected Mayor’s Statement
 
7.1 Mayor Glanville welcomed newly elected Cllr Joe Walker following the recent

De Beavoir by-election and Rickardo Hyatt, Group Director for Climate, Homes
and Economy who had recently joined the Council.

 
7.2 The Mayor thanked various teams across the Council who had worked

diligently to keep people safe and services running throughout the two days of
extreme heat on 18 and 19 July. Thanks were also relayed to the Fire Brigade
for quickly acting to put out a fire in South Millfields Orchard. He expressed

Page 15



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

sadness at the loss of all the hard work of the Tree Musketeers (volunteers who
planted and cared for trees in Hackney) and committed to providing help to
restore and replant.

 
7.3 Referencing the extreme weather and the climate crisis, the Mayor expressed

great disappointment at Conservative candidates for Prime Minister who he
believed had ditched net zero targets and presented inadequate plans to deliver
on COP26 commitments and funding. The Mayor reaffirmed the Council’s
commitment to tackling the climate emergency, highlighting the Council’s
declaration in 2019 and subsequent plans to transform Council roads, estates
and town centres, insulating them against climate change and building
resilience. The Council had planted 5000 street trees to help weather extreme
heat, tackle air pollution, and respond to loss of biodiversity. This would provide
benefits in the years and decades ahead.

 
7.4 The Mayor outlined measures undertaken to deliver on the Green New Deal for

Hackney. In summary these included: 40 schools signed up to the
Council-funded Eco-Schools programme, rolling out pollution-blocking green
screens to 32 primary schools, a 97% reduction in the Council’s pension fund
investment in fossil fuel reserves, approved plans for another 4,000 secure bike
parking spaces and a community energy fund. This was in addition to the
ongoing implementation of School Streets and Lower Traffic Neighbourhoods to
improve air quality in the borough.

 
7.5 Mayor Glanville expressed dismay at the lack of leadership of the Conservative

Government and their local counterparts across the chamber in the climate
emergency and cost of living crisis. He cited the unveiling of artwork dedicated
to the Windrush Generation, standing up against bus cuts, marching in London
Pride and calling out undercounting of the census, as ways in which his
administration had shown leadership and stood up for the values that made
Hackney a special, diverse, progressive borough.

 
7.6 Concluding, the Mayor condemned the decision of the Supreme Court of the

United States (US) to undo the legal right to abortion; the impact of which he
belived would not be limited to the US. His administration would continue to
stand for the women of Hackney and their rights and send a clear message that
personal bodily autonomy should be protected as a fundamental human right.

 
Conservative Group Response

 
7.7 Cllr Steinbeger thanked Council officers and emergency services who had

worked throughout the recent heatwave to ensure Council services were
delivered. He expressed disappointment relating to the lack of ventilation and
inbuilt air conditioning as part of the Town Hall restoration and refurbishment.

 
7.8 Cllr Steinberger stated that the recently released Forde report was evidence

that racism and anti-semitism was present within the Labour Party. Referring to
the Conservative Party leadership challenge, he noted that 7 out of the 12
candidates were from minority ethnic groups and one of the two remaining was
a woman. He believed this demonstrated the Conservative Party’s commitment
to equality.

 

Page 16



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

7.9 Cllr Steinberger thanked Gilbert Stowe, Head of Tenancy and Leasehold
Services, who would be retiring shortly, for his help and assistance over the
years.

 
7.10 Referring to the Transport for London (TfL) public consultation on bus cuts, Cllr

Steinberger stated that TfL was inefficient and ineffectively managed by the
Mayor of London with many officers being overpaid. He believed that the need
to make savings was largely self-induced and consequently this
mismanagement and subsequent bus cuts would ultimately impact local
residents.

 
7.11 In conclusion, Cllr Steinberger urged Mayor Glanville to take into consideration

the views of residents with regard to previous and ongoing consultations and
commended the Mayor of Tower Hamlets for doing so.

Green Group Response

7.12 Cllr Garbett thanked Council staff and partner services for their efforts in
ensuring that residents were protected during the recent heatwave. In reference
to the health challenges posed by the recent heat-wave she stated that a
climate emergency was also a health emergency. Acknowledging the
devastation caused to green spaces, she relayed thanks to the Tree
Musketeers and Millfields User Groups for their efforts.

 
7.13 Highlighting the recent High Court ruling that the Government’s net zero

strategy did not meet the obligations under the Climate Change Act, Cllr
Garbett hoped that the Council’s forthcoming Climate Action Plan recognised
the urgency of the situation. She believed that the climate emergency should be
a consideration in all Council decisions. Cllr Garbett expressed disappointment
at the recent decision by the Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee to
approve the installation of 14 new double sided digital advertising boards. Each
board consumed the equivalent amount of electricity as three average UK
households. Cllr Garbett called on the administration to move away from an
economic system based on the promotion of endless consumption and
manufactured demand.

 
7.14 In relation to the cost of living crisis, Cllr Garbett stated that this did not only

affect residents but also staff employed by the Council who were working with
unions to raise concerns about pay and conditions which were believed to be
unheard by management and political leaders. The Green group pledged to
stand in solidarity with workers within and outside the Council and to ensure the
Council did everything within its power to support staff and residents through
the crisis.

 
Mayor’s Reply

 
7.15 In reply to the Opposition Groups, Mayor Glanville referred to the Forde report

and condemned the use of sexist, racist and anti-semitiic language and
behaviour used to progress factions within the Labour Party. He stood in
solidarity with Hackney Labour MPs Dianne Abbot and Meg Hillier, both of
whom had faced external and internal party attacks.

 

Page 17



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

7.16 Referring to the Conservative leadership challenge he acknowledged that white
men were in the minority; however despite the visible diversity, he believed
there to be nothing progressive about their views on public services, tax cuts,
climate emergency, race and diversity. He believed that the candidates did not
address the needs and concerns of a diverse borough such as Hackney.

 
7.17 In relation to the proposed bus cuts, Mayor Glanville stated that issues with TfL

funding began when the Prime Minister was Mayor of London and agreed a
deal with the government to do away with the £500m grant funding and
subsequently left a £1bn black hole in TfL’s finances. Mayor Glanville called on
all present to join with the Mayor of London to campaign for proper funding for
TfL. He believed there were several models by which to deliver and operate
public transport which could also achieve climate objectives and embody social
justice, if adequate funding was available.

 
7.18 Mayor Glanville explained that his administration would continue to campaign

for better pay for public sector workers however there was a dispute within the
workforce with only half accepting the national pay agreement. It was felt that it
would not be equitable to accept pay increases for some staff and not others
without proper government funding.

8. De Beauvoir By-Election Results

RESOLVED: To note the results of the recent by-election in De Beauvoir ward
as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

9. Political Balance and Appointments to Committees

RESOLVED:
 

1. To note the review of the allocation of seats in accordance with section 15
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 following the by-election in De
Beauvoir Ward on 7 July 2022 as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

2. To note that there are no changes to the allocation of seats on the Council’s
Committees etc. as between the three political groups of the Council.

3. To approve the nominations of Councillors and Co-Optees to the
Committees and Commissions as set out in Appendix 2 of the report.

10. Annual Update on Progress with Decarbonisation Commitments July 2022

10.1 The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport introduced the third annual
report which demonstrated the administration’s progress against the key goals
to address the climate emergency the previous year. He outlined some of the
major achievements set out within the report as well as the emergence of a
number of Council plans and policies which incorporated decarbonisation
principles.

 
10.2 Cllrs Binnie-Lubbock and Garbett contributed to the debate. They welcomed the

report but felt that more regular scrutiny of the administration’s progress above
the six monthly intervals offered was required. It was queried whether all
Council decisions considered the impact of net zero as well as social and

Page 18



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

economic considerations and requested clarity on how this would be prioritised.
It was also questioned whether a citizen’s assembly co-designed by local
environmental experts with decision making and budgetary powers would be
considered.

 
10.3 Cllrs Etti, Wrout and Deputy Mayor Nicholson also contributed to the debate.

They commended the Council’s engagement with local residents and
businesses in assisting to provide a sustainable, green local economy. The
challenge was presented to Conservatives Councillors to lobby the
Conservative Government to ensure that Councils were given the much needed
funds to meet net zero targets.

 
10.4 In response to the comments made, the Cabinet Member for Environment and

Transport highlighted the link between tackling the cost of living crisis, social
justice and the climate crisis. He informed the chamber that the administration
was working on ways to educate and shift local thinking. With regard to the
citizens’ assembly, Cllr Coban stated that Hackney was a unique and diverse
borough and any arrangements would reflect this. He agreed to provide a more
detailed response in writing to the Green Councillors outside of the meeting.

 
RESOLVED: To note the Annual Update on progress with its decarbonisation  
commitments.

11. Members’ Allowances Scheme 2021/22 (updated July 2022) and Members’
Allowances Scheme 2022/23

11.1 Correction - Page 108 of the report within the agenda referred to the 2nd
Opposition Group Whip rather than Group Leader - the remainder of the report
has the correct reference.

11.2 Cllr Steinberger stated his objection to the report and dissatisfaction that an
independent person had not been involved in setting allowances for several
years. He also raised concerns about the number of Cabinet Members.

 
11.3 Mayor Glanville explained that the decision was taken across London Councils

to jointly commission an Independent Panel in order to reduce costs. Pay bands
had been created following the evaluation of various roles and pay awards
across London. This process was funded collectively by the boroughs with a
view to reducing costs to individual Councils and creating an efficient, up to
date, fair and impartial cross-party process. In reference to Hackney, he further
advised that following the May 2022 local elections, the remuneration of the
First Opposition Group Leader now took into account the presence of a Second
Minority Opposition Group.

 
11.4 Cllr Garbett requested that it be noted that whilst the Green Party supported the

recommendations, the inaccessibility of politics nationwide was quite widely
recognised and Councillors allowances were one of the contributing factors.

 
RESOLVED:
 
1.   To approve the report and the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2021/22 (July

2022 Council) attached at Appendix 1 of the report.
 

Page 19



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

2.   To agree the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23 (July 2022 Council)
attached at Appendix 2 of the report.

12. Constitution Committee Terms of Reference and Membership

12.1 Deputy Mayor Bramble stated that the administration was keen to ensure
changes to the Constitution took place in the public domain and were
transparent and accessible with a cross-party approach.

 
12.2 Cllr Binnie-Lubbock welcomed the report and amendment to the terms of

reference to recognise and offer take up of membership to the Green group..
 

RESOLVED:
 
1.   That the terms of reference of the Constitution Committee be amended as

set out in Appendix 1 to this report.
 
2.   That Councillor Binnie-Lubbock be appointed to the Constitution Committee

having been nominated by the Green Party.
 
 
At 8.56pm there was an adjournment for prayers.
 
The meeting resumed at 9:39pm
 
Councillors Krautwirt, Lisser, Papier and Steinberger left the meeting at the
commencement of the adjournment and were not present for the remainder of the
meeting.

13. Motions

The proposed tabled amendments to the motions are attached at Appendix B

13a Cost Of Living Crisis

It was noted that the proposer and seconder of this motion no longer wished to
pursue the amendment as set out in the tabled papers but were content for this
be considered at the same time as the other tabled amendments.
 
The motion as set out at agenda item 13a within the agenda was MOVED by
Cllr Adejare and SECONDED by Cllr Samatar.
 
The withdrawal of the amendment as set out in the tabled papers marked as
13d Amendments to Motions was MOVED by Cllr Adejare and SECONDED by
Cllr Samatar.

Cllr Adejare briefly stated the purpose of the motion.
 
The proposed amendments as set out in the tabled papers marked as 13d
Amendments to Motions were MOVED by Cllr Binnie-Lubbock and
SECONDED by Cllr Garbett.
 

Page 20



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

Cllr Binnie-Lubbock spoke to the proposed amendments. He welcomed the
motion to request for the Council to call upon the Government to keep benefit
payments in line with inflation. Cllr Binnie-Lubbock highlighted an additional
range of measures the Council could undertake in recognition of the crisis. In
summary these included: support the development of a “pledge my cheque”
scheme, as a living wage borough urge local employers to end zero hours
contracts, consultation to remove the fifteen percent contribution from residents
eligible for full council tax support and continue to protect children centres and
nurseries as a priority.
 
The proposed amendments were put to the vote without debate.
 
The amendments to the MOTION were lost and were declared NOT
CARRIED.

Cllr Adejare introduced the motion and highlighted the Government’s lack of
understanding of the impact of the cost of living crisis on many of the borough’s
residents. It was noted that Hackney had one of the highest levels of
deprivation. The use of food banks had increased exponentially with an
increasing amount of residents forced to access finite hardship grants. Cllr
Adejare highlighted the far reaching consequences of the crisis which included
education, hunger and poor mental health and called for urgent Government
intervention and increased levels of support. She believed it was incumbent on
Councillors to support the motion and represent the needs of their constituents.

Cllr Samatar spoke in support of the motion and stated that the impact of the
crisis was disproportionately hitting poorer households in particular the elderly,
diasbled and children. She stated that the country had suffered under
Conservative austerity and incompetence which could only be remedied by a
change of Government.
 
Deputy Mayor Bramble and Councillors Walker, Williams, Joseph, Billington and
Turbet-Delof contributed to the debate, speaking in support of the motion.
 
Concluding, Cllr Adejare thanked Councillors for their comments and pledged
the administration’s on-going commitment to helping the plight of local residents
affected by the cost of living crisis.
 
Unanimously RESOLVED:
 
1. To call on the Government to introduce an Emergency Budget to take

urgent action to protect the people of Hackney from the cost of living
crisis.

2. To note that:

● Energy costs have risen by an average of £693 per household – and
are set to rise even further, with Ofgem setting the energy price cap at
£2800 from October

● Food prices are soaring, some basic staples by as much as 20%

● Inflation has hit 9% ─ its highest level in 40 years
Page 21



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

● Personal Taxation is now at its highest level in 70 years

● 48% of children in Hackney live in poverty and 16.5% of local
residents are  claiming out-of-work benefits

● Meanwhile £11.8bn of public money has been lost to fraud through the
Governments covid support schemes

 
3.   To write to the Prime Minister urging him to:

●  Introduce an immediate Emergency Budget to protect children,
families, and pensioners from the worst fall in living standards in
generations

● Cut business rates for small businesses

● Cut the VAT rate on energy bills

●  Increase the support available to all claimants through the welfare and
benefits system

● Deliver on the calls made by UNISON, the NEU and other education
unions to expand the free school meals programme to all families
receiving universal credit or an equivalent benefit

● Fund Hackney Council’s Green Homes programme to retrofit homes
helping to  reduce home energy consumption and cut energy bills.

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 16.4 of the Council's Constitution, the
Speaker advised that the total time of 30 minutes for the consideration of Motions had
come to an end. Subsequently, there was not sufficient time to debate the Long Covid
and Fair Vote Motions. These motions shall stand deferred to the next ordinary
meeting of Full Council on 14 September 2022 where they will be the first and second
motions to be debated.

13b Motion: Long Covid

RESOLVED:
 

1. That in accordance with Procedure Rule 16.4 of the Council’s Constitution
that this motion, which was not debated, stand referred without discussion to
the next ordinary meeting of Full Council on 14 September 2022.

 
2.  That this motion will be the first motion to be debated at the next ordinary Full

Council meeting.

Page 22



Wednesday,  20 July 2022

13c Motion: Fair Votes

RESOLVED:
 

1.  That in accordance with Procedure Rule 16.4 of the Council’s Constitution
that this motion, which was not debated, stand referred without discussion to
the next ordinary meeting of Full Council on 14 September 2022.

 
2.   That this motion will be the second motion to be debated at the next

ordinary Full Council meeting.

 
Duration of Meeting - 7:00-9:57pm

Attachments

Appendix A - Questions from Members of the Council not answered due to time
(Agenda item 6)

Appendix B - Proposed tabled amendments to motions
(Agenda item 13)

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Questions from Members of the Council not answered due to time
constraints

6.6 Question from Cllr Alastair Binnie-Lubbock to the Mayor

Following strong support of many members of this Council for recent RMT
industrial action, what role do you see unions playing in the borough?

Response from the Cabinet Member for Employment, Human Resources and
Equalities

Dear Cllr Binnie-Lubbock

As there was insufficient time to respond to your question at last week's full
council meeting, here is the response I would have given.

This administration’s support of trade unionism is clear.

Trade unions are a vital part of a fair and inclusive local economy, as well as a
part of the collective struggle against inequality.

To quote Francis O’Grady, the outgoing TUC General Secretary:

“If you are a member of a trade union you are likely to get better pay, more
equal pay, better health and safety, more chance to get training, more chance to
have conditions of work that help if you have caring responsibilities ... the list
goes on!”

This administration has evidenced that belief with action ─ by embedding good
working relationships with the trade unions in the Council, and promoting trade
unions across the Borough.

Members on the labour benches have supported Heart Unions Week every
year, promoting the good work that trade unions do to our residents.

Since 2020, we have worked with the trade unions to commemorate the staff we
lost during the pandemic, and commemorated all lives lost at work on
International Workers Memorial Day.

The Mayor and I, and our colleagues, supported the RMT strikes.

We’ve not just been there for the RMT this year, but in previous years also,
supporting their campaigns to save ticket offices along the Overground services
─ writing to both TfL and national government in support.

Across the Council’s services and strategies, we have also embedded our belief
in collective organising, bargaining and workplace representation.

We maintain a close working relationship with council trade unions, with both
formal and informal engagement:

Page 25



● Council Joint Committee meetings are held quarterly, chaired by myself,
where the unions are represented alongside members and senior
officers.

● These are backed up by LJCs in service areas, and regular informal
meetings between council and trade union leadership.

Since 2016, the number of CJC meetings has increased from three to four
meetings a year, and we introduced quarterly meetings with the unions, Mayor
Glanville and I.

We also set out clear expectations on the organisations we procure about
collective representation in our Sustainable Procurement Strategy, which
includes trade union recognition and an established staff whistleblowing
process.

But we’ve also worked with the trade unions to build a better Hackney:

● Working with them to insource £12m of contracted council services,
bringing in over 350 members of staff.

● Working with them to pay the London Living Wage as a minimum to all
our staff AND contracted staff.

More broadly, we’ve also been there for the trade unions and their members on
local and national campaigns:

● Supporting the TUC campaign to save the Union Learning Fund.
● Supporting striking BECTU members and Picturehouse staff.
● Supporting PCS members to keep DWP offices open in Hackney, and

supporting striking government cleaners.
● Supporting striking UCU members against cuts to pay and pensions in

HE and FE.
● Supporting NEU campaigns against school cuts and in favour of better

SEND funding.
● Supporting the CWU campaign to save the Clapton Sorting Office.
● Supporting UNITE bus and transport workers in 2020.
● Supporting the UNISON and GMB campaigns to see a fairer deal for

Homerton Hospital cleaners and facility staff.
● Supporting the IWGB and their members in Dalston, lobbying the

delivery companies and restaurants to better support their members

The Labour Mayor and Councillors believe by the strengths of our common
endeavours, we achieve more than we achieve alone.

All the best,

Carole

Councillor Carole Williams
Cabinet member for Employment, Human Resources and Equalities

Page 26



6.7 Question from Cllr Margaret Gordon to the Cabinet Member for Employment,
Human Resources and Equalities

Would the Cabinet Member with responsibility for migrants and refugees tell me
how the Council is responding to the Ukrainian refugee crisis, detailing how
many Ukrainian nationals have settled into family homes under the Homes for
Ukraine Scheme and what support they are receiving from the Council?

Response Cabinet Member for Employment, Human Resources and Equalities

Dear Cllr Gordon

As there was insufficient time to respond to your question at this week's full
council meeting, I'm providing the response in writing.

Hackney has a long-standing reputation of being open and welcoming to
migrants and refugees and has always been prepared to support its residents
and those affected by conflict. Hackney has been welcoming those arriving from
Ukraine and has established a team supporting both the refugee guests and our
Hackney residents that have opened their homes.

To date, we have had 198 resident households in our Borough submit an
application under the Homes for Ukraine scheme supporting a total of 365
Ukrainian refugees. So far, 234 people have arrived and settled into family
homes.

The Council are undertaking the required DBS, property and safeguarding
checks and have developed information packs in English and Ukrainian to help
navigate the Borough and our services. Support Workers are meeting guests
and providing help and advice using a trauma-informed and strengths-based
approach which is adapted depending on the individual circumstances. A
dedicated email address and telephone number has been set up and in-person
meet and greet events are being held every other month to support establishing
a local community whilst also offering information, advice and guidance.

We are building additional capacity into services as we identify needs which has
included developing a bespoke English to Speakers of Other Language (ESOL)
offer jointly with our employment support service: Employment & Skills Refugee
Project Briefing

As relationships continue to develop between hosts and guests, we are working
with the voluntary sector to offer some support sessions for hosts and have also
been supporting groups where their placement has been unable to continue to
find a rematch with another resident. A call for other residents that are
interested in hosting to come forward has gone out in this edition of the Love
Hackney magazine.

As a Council, we are also planning for the next steps after hosting arrangements
come to an end so that the right support is in place for Ukrainian guests to find
their own accommodation.

Page 27

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1gubZ00fUgRR4keGZc1BhTKkP4WiQYq7rC1ySUk2AKl0/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1gubZ00fUgRR4keGZc1BhTKkP4WiQYq7rC1ySUk2AKl0/edit


Other specific information

● Mental Health; our local Mental Health services are outlined in the
Information Pack and the team are working with CAMHS, ELFT and
Mind (as the lead of the MH Network) to ensure pathways are
accessible to Ukrainian refugees

● Health; our Health colleagues have created a directory of services for
refugees, migrants and people fleeing Ukraine which is included in the
information pack

● Employment; Hackney Works are supporting people to find employment
and the English to Speakers of Other Language offer has embedded a
focus on employment and self-employment in their classes.

Please let me know if you have any further questions.

Best wishes,

Carole

Councillor Carole Williams
Cabinet Member for Employment, Human Resources and Equalities

6.8 Question from Cllr Alastair Binnie-Lubbock to the Mayor

A recent report found that Hackney has 87 fire-risk buildings, this in the top
three in London. What is the council doing to promote and ensure fire safety of
residents living in these buildings with minimum disruption?

Response from the Mayor

Dear Alastair,

Thank you for your question at the last Full Council meeting regarding fire-risk
buildings in Hackney and I’m sorry there wasn’t time to answer it on that night.

Clearly, your question was timely given the tower block fire that happened in
Newham on the day of Full Council. Thankfully no one was hurt in the fire,
thanks to the hard work of the London Fire Brigade.

Keeping our residents safe is one of our key priorities as a Council, and we
continue to do everything we can to ensure residents are safe in their homes.

Since the tragic Grenfell Tower fire, we have invested in our own extensive
programme of fire safety improvements across our homes and estates.

We were the first council to publish our fire risk assessments from across all our
estates and have established a dedicated Resident Safety Team to focus on
ensuring the safety of residents living in council-owned homes. They complete
hundreds of FRAs every year, liaise with the London Fire Brigade and direct

Page 28



actions to teams across the Council, including our in-house Direct Labour
Organisation (DLO) as well as specialist contractors.

A lot of work has already been done since the terrible Grenfell fire and the
blocks at the highest risk of fire have been remediated. This includes the three
tower blocks at Lincoln Court as well as the work that is currently ongoing at
Seaton Point.

Seaton Point is also another example of the Council taking the fire safety of
residents very seriously and temporary measures such as waking watch and
interlinked fire alarms have been in place since the works started on site in
Autumn 2021.

We’re also replacing thousands of fire safety doors, installing missing fire
stoppers across estates, and a significant programme of dry riser installations.

When considering the cost of fire safety works, the council has also agreed to
not pass on costs to leaseholders for any fire safety works arising from a fire risk
assessment.

But of course, as you highlighted, there are still privately-owned, problem blocks
across the borough that the Council does not control.

The figure of 87 that you refer to includes buildings that (in May 2022) had
interim fire safety measures in place such as waking watches or suspension of
stay put advice. While this number may appear concerning, it is indicative of the
relatively larger number of blocks of flats and taller buildings in Hackney and
other inner London boroughs – but more importantly of the Council’s work to
ensure that any fire safety issues in these types of buildings are quickly and
transparently identified so that they can be fully addressed.

Since the Grenfell fire, we have investigated more than 250 tall buildings across
the borough to ensure developers and building owners address dangerous
cladding and other fire safety issues. As a result of this work, there are:

● eight buildings where remediation work has been completed and
approved by building control.

● 27 ‘green’ rated buildings with work underway or a firm commitment
from the owner to undertake remediation work. 15 of these have work
on site, with three of these expected to be completed in August and
September.

● 11 ‘amber’ rated buildings where owners are continuing to undertake
surveys or we are waiting for a firm commitment around remediation

● 14 ‘grey’ rated buildings that are less than 18m high but which we are
continuing to monitor

In all these cases we have ensured owners have interim measures in place to
ensure no immediate risk to residents, and crucially there are now no ‘red’ rated
blocks in Hackney which would indicate serious issues without any remediation
plans in place. This is thanks to the scale of intervention undertaken by the
council’s Private Sector Housing Team, whose interventions have ranged from

Page 29



providing support and advice to owners and agents to threatening enforcement
–  in one case serving a legal notice.

Finally, you may now have seen that the government has reopened the Building
Safety Fund, which owners can apply for to fund the remediation of cladding on
buildings over 18 metres, and we will be encouraging building owners who have
remediation plans but no funding in place to apply to this.

Since Grenfell, we have pushed the government to ensure leaseholders and
shared owners are not forced to pay the cost of making buildings with
dangerous cladding safe, including giving evidence at an influential
parliamentary committee.

There are significant barriers to helping residents in these blocks including:

● Landlords not willing to cooperate
● The Government not assisting with buildings below 18m
● The Government’s delay in reopening the Building Safety Fund
● And a Building Safety Act which still allows owners to pass on certain

costs to blameless residents, up to £15,000.

It’s just another area where this zombie government’s inertia is having real-world
consequences for our residents.

So where there are delays, we’ve been using every avenue possible to enforce
and encourage landlords to do the right thing and make every building in
Hackney as safe as possible, while lobbying the government to provide more
assistance.

Because despite promises after the Grenfell fire that councils would be
financially assisted to pay for fire safety works, not a penny has been made
available.

But that has not stopped us from taking action across the private sector. The
Private Sector Housing Team would be more than happy to meet with you and
take you through the current cases, priorities, and areas for action, in detail. Do
contact Mayoral Adviser Cllr Sem Moema and/or James Goddard, Interim
Director Regeneration (james.goddard@hackney.gov.uk) if you wish to take up
this offer.

I hope this answers your initial questions.

Yours sincerely

Philip Glanville
Mayor of Hackney

Page 30

https://news.hackney.gov.uk/mayor-leaseholders-are-still-counting-the-cost-despite-cladding-announcement/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/mayor-leaseholders-are-still-counting-the-cost-despite-cladding-announcement/


6.9 Question from Cllr Polly Billington to the Cabinet Member for Environment and
Transport

The Council's Cycling Plan sets out a vision for the borough with ‘the most
attractive and safest roads for cycling in the UK.’ But for many of our residents,
having access to secure and suitable bike storage is also a significant barrier to
cycling. The Council has already responded to this issue by installing more
cycle hangers. Can the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport outline
what more this administration will do to improve cycle storage across Hackney,
and meet its manifesto commitment to help another 4,000 households who may
lack the storage space at home to keep a bike.

Response from the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport

Dear Cllr Billington,

I’m sorry that we were not able to hear your question at Full Council on
Wednesday 20th July. I am following up in writing to answer your question
regarding bike storage.

Hackney Council has installed nearly 650 cycle hangars across the borough,
providing secure cycle parking for 3,900 cyclists. However, despite this work ─
which has seen the number of hangars increase by a third in the last two years
─ demand for the spaces has continued to far outstrip supply, and consequently,
the waiting list for a space stands at over 5,000 residents.

The calculated waiting time for those on the waiting list today now stands at
over 11 years, with many cycle hangars having a waiting list of over 40
residents, and space turnover averaging between one and two spaces per
hangar per year

To meet the 2022 Labour manifesto commitment will require the installation of a
further 675 hangars. At its meeting on 18th July, Cabinet approved a capital
investment of £2,835k over a 3-year period (2023/24 - 2025/26).

This level of investment will help 4,000 residents currently awaiting space on
street and on estates obtain a space in secure cycle storage, reduce the
resident waiting lists from 11 years to less than 2 years unlock significant cycling
potential by removing a major obstacle to cycling more (the lack of storage for a
bike in many people’s homes) and enable significant income growth that will
ensure that future investment in new cycle hangars can be self-funded.

Hackney already leads the way for such secure on-street storage and this
investment represents a doubling of existing capacity in the borough and three
times what we promised in our recent Manifesto.

It is encouraging that in response to the climate emergency, residents are more
and more choosing cycling as their preferred way to travel. As a consequence,
the demand for cycling spaces has continued to far outstrip supply ─ and this
proposal will substantially reduce the waiting time for a cycle parking space.

Page 31



We will ensure that these new hangers are installed in an equitable way,
matched to demand and the current waiting list, but also ensure all parts of the
borough and that homes on our streets and estates are equally served. We will
also audit our existing hangers to ensure that they are being used as efficiently
as possible and explore provisions for a more diverse range of bikes.

I hope this answers your question.

Best,

Cllr Mete Coban MBE
Councillor for Stoke Newington
Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport

Page 32



Appendix B

Council Meeting
Wednesday, 20 July 2022

Agenda item 13: Proposed Amendments to Motions received by the Monitoring
Officer prior to 12 noon

Underlined text = proposed additional wording
Strikethrough text = proposed deletions

13a Cost of Living Crisis (Labour Party Amendment)

This Council calls on the Government to introduce an Emergency Budget to take
urgent action to protect the people of Hackney from the cost of living crisis.

Council notes that:

● Energy costs have risen by an average of £693 per household – and are set
to rise even further, with Ofgem setting the energy price cap at £2800 from
October

● Food prices are soaring, some basic staples by as much as 20%
● Inflation has hit 9% ─ its highest level in 40 years
● Personal Taxation is now at its highest level in 70 years
● 48% of children in Hackney live in poverty and 16.5% of local residents are

claiming out-of-work benefits
● Meanwhile £11.8bn of public money has been lost to fraud through the

Governments covid support schemes

Council therefore resolves to write to the Prime Minister urging him to:

● Introduce an immediate Emergency Budget to protect children, families, and
pensioners from the worst fall in living standards in generations

● Cut business rates for small businesses
● Cut the VAT rate on energy bills
● Increase the support available to all claimants through the welfare and

benefits system
● Deliver on the calls made by UNISON, the NEU and other education unions

to expand the free school meals programme to all families receiving
universal credit or an equivalent benefit

● Fund Hackney Council’s Green Homes programme to retrofit homes, helping
to  reduce home energy consumption and cut energy bills.

● Keep benefit payments in line with inflation, in a system similar to the state
pension ‘triple lock’

1Page 33



Appendix B

The Council believes that the Emergency Budget must include real help for residents
and local businesses in Hackney.

Amendment proposed by: Cllr Adejare
Amendment seconder: Cllr Samatar

13a. Cost of LIving Crisis (Green Party Amendments)

This Council calls on the Government to introduce an Emergency Budget to take
urgent action to protect the people of Hackney from the cost of living crisis.

Council notes that:
● Energy costs have risen by an average of £693 per household – and are set

to rise even further, with Ofgem setting the energy price cap at £2800 from
October.

● Food prices are soaring, some basic staples by as much as 20%
● Inflation has hit 9% ─ its highest level in 40 years
● Personal Taxation is now at its highest level in 70 years
● 48% of children in Hackney live in poverty and 16.5% of local residents are

claiming out-of-work benefits
● Meanwhile £11.8bn of public money has been lost to fraud through the

Governments covid support schemes

Council therefore resolves to write to the Prime Minister urging him to:

● Introduce an immediate Emergency Budget to protect children, families, and
pensioners from the worst fall in living standards in generations

● Cut business rates for small businesses
● Cut the VAT rate on energy bills  Increase the support available to all

claimants through the welfare and benefits system
● Increase the support available to all claimants through the welfare and

benefits system
● Deliver on the calls made by UNISON, the NEU and other education unions

to expand the free school meals programme to all families receiving
universal credit or an equivalent benefit

● Fund Hackney Council’s Green Homes programme to retrofit homes,
helping to reduce home energy consumption and cut energy bills

● Keep benefit payments in line with inflation, in a system similar to the state
pension ‘triple lock’

The Council believes that the Emergency Budget must include real help for residents
and local businesses in Hackney.

2Page 34



Appendix B

Council also resolves to:

1. Support the development of a ‘Pledge My Check’ type scheme, where
beneficiaries of the £400 relief grant who do not need the additional financial
support can donate it to organisations that do, and promote this scheme
through the Council’s social media and websites.

2. Build on our work as a Living Wage borough, by encouraging businesses
throughout Hackney to end the use of zero-hour contracts and instead give
employees secure, fairly paid employment.

3. To agree to undertake a consultation to remove the 15% contribution by
residents eligible for full council tax support

4. Continue to protect children’s centres and nurseries as a priority when faced
with real-terms Government funding cuts to Local Authorities.

Amendments proposed by: Cllr Binnie-Lubbock
Amendments seconder: Cllr Garbett

3Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Title of Report Standards Committee Annual Report

For Consideration By Council

Meeting Date 14 September 2022

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected N/A

Director Director of Legal, Democratic & Electoral Services and
Monitoring Officer

1. Summary

1.1. This Standards Committee Annual Report provides an overview of the work
and activities of the Standards Committee during the 2021/2022 municipal
year.

2. Recommendations

2.1. That Full Council note the Standards Committee Annual Report
appearing at Appendix 1 to this report.

3. Background

3.1. Full Council receives an annual report from the Standards Committee which
provides details of the work undertaken by the Committee in the previous
municipal year. The presentation of the report to Full Council ensures that all
members have an understanding of the Committee’s work in promoting and
maintaining high ethical standards for elected and co-opted Members. This
is the tenth annual report since the implementation of the Localism Act 2011

3.2. The Standards Committee monitors and makes recommendations on the
Members’ Code of Conduct and considers complaints made under the Code.
The report in Appendix 1 provides a summary of its activity for 2020/21.

Page 37

Agenda Item 4



4. Comments of the Group Director of Finance and Corporate Resources.

4.1. The Standards Committee Annual Report details the work of the Standards
Committee in the previous municipal year and therefore there are no
financial implications arising from the content of this report.

5. Comments of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services

5.1. Under the Localism Act 2011, the Council has a legal duty to promote and
maintain high standards of conduct by elected members and co-opted
members and established a Standards Committee to ensure compliance
with this duty.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Standards Committee Annual Report 2021-2022

Background documents

None

Report Author Louise Humphreys
Head of Legal & Governance
louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 4817

Comments for the Group
Director of Finance and
Corporate Resources
prepared by

Jackie Moylan
Director, Financial Management
jackie.moylan@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 3032

Comments for the Director
of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services
prepared by

Dawn Carter-McDonald
Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral
Services
dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 6234

Page 38

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1gwg_HlT4uOFlIT48yJ_BFjk81oZznZyfy-N0OsxjJXQ/edit?usp=sharing
mailto:louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:jackie.moylan@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk


Standards Committee Annual Report
2021 / 2022

Page 37



Chair’s Foreword

As Chair of the Standards Committee, I am delighted to present the Committee’s
Annual Report which outlines the work undertaken by the Committee in the
2021/2022 municipal year.

This is the eleventh year since the Standards Committee was established following
the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 and my sixth report as Chair.

The Standards Committee remains committed to working with, and supporting,
members of the Council to ensure that they respect the Code of Conduct and uphold
the standards expected of those in public life which are encapsulated in the Seven
Principles of Public Life (also known as the Nolan Principles).

To achieve this the Committee has worked closely with the Council’s Monitoring
Officer to ensure that the principles of good governance and ethical standards
remain central to the business of the Council and to instil confidence in those elected
to public office.

It remains a matter of personal regret that the opposition group continued their
decision of not taking up its place on the Standards Committee in 2021/2022,
particularly as the Committee functions in an independent and non-party political
way, and ethical standards are a matter for all members of the Council.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to those Councillors appointed to the
Committee, the Independent Person, the Co-Optees for all their hard work and
support during the municipal year. I would also like to commend the Monitoring
Officer, the Deputy Monitoring Officer for their most professional and successful
operation of the standards regime at the Council. Finally, I would like to offer my
thanks to all those officers who have engaged with the Standards Committee during
the year.

Councillor Anntoinette Bramble, Chair of the Standards Committee for 2021/22
and Deputy Mayor

1Page 38



Introduction

The Standards Committee submits an annual report to full Council summarising the
work the Committee has carried out in the previous municipal year. This report
comprises the annual report for the 2021/2022 municipal year together with
background information regarding the standards regime at the London Borough of
Hackney. All references to 2021/2022 in this report refer to the municipal year.

Membership

For 2021/22, the membership of the Standards Committee was as follows:

Cllr Anntoinette Bramble, Deputy Mayor (Chair)
Cllr Kofo David (Vice Chair)
Cllr Humaira Garasia
Cllr Katie Hanson
Cllr Anna Lynch
Cllr Sem Moema
Cllr Carole Williams
Cllr Caroline Woodley
Vacancy (Conservative Group)

Non-voting co-opted members:

Nicola Hanns
Aoife Scannell

Independent Person

Feryal Ertan (with effect from 30 June 2021)

Background Information

The Code of Conduct

The Localism Act 2011 requires every local authority to have a Code of Conduct.
which sets out the conduct that is expected of elected and co-opted members of the
Authority when they are acting in that capacity.

The Code applies whenever a member (a) conducts the business of the Authority
(including the business of their office as an elected member or co-opted member) or
(b) acts, claims to act or gives the impression they are acting as a representative of
the Authority.

A “co-opted member‟ means any person who is a member of any committee or sub-
committee of the Council with a right to vote but who is not one of its elected
members. In the case of the London Borough of Hackney non-voting co-optees are
also required to abide by the Code of Conduct.

2Page 39



The Monitoring Officer

The Monitoring Officer holds a statutory role and is responsible for promoting and
maintaining high standards of conduct and for reporting any actual or potential
breaches of the law and maladministration to the full Council and/or to the Cabinet
(as set out in s.5(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989).

The Monitoring Officer administers the arrangements for addressing complaints
made under the Code of Conduct. The Monitoring Officer‟s role includes the
assessment and review of every complaint received under the Code of Conduct.
Following consultation with the Independent Person and consideration of the initial
comments of the subject member the Monitoring Officer decides whether the
complaint will be investigated.

The Council’s Monitoring Officer continues to be Dawn Carter-McDonald, formerly
Director of Legal and Governance and now Director of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services.

Independent Person

The Authority has appointed one Independent Person who is invited to attend all
meetings of the Standards Committee. The appointment of the Independent Person
is determined by a meeting of Full Council.

The Independent Person must be consulted by the Monitoring Officer before they
make a decision on a matter that has been referred to it for investigation; they can
also be consulted at any other stage; and can also be consulted by a member or
co-opted member against whom a complaint has been made.

Standards Committee Terms of Reference 2020/21

The Standards Committee is responsible for the promotion and maintenance of high
ethical standards within the Council, helping to secure adherence to the adopted
Code of Conduct, monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct and conducting
hearings following investigations into alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct.

The terms of reference for 2021/22 are set out in the Council’s Constitution and are
reproduced in full below :

The Standards Committee is responsible for the following functions:

1. To review and maintain oversight of the Council’s ethical framework
and procedures and make reports and recommendations accordingly;

2. To review and maintain oversight of the conduct of Members and
co-opted members of the Council and assist them in upholding high
ethical standards;

3. To advise Full Council and its Committees on the adoption of a
Members’ Code of Conduct, codes of practice and protocols relating to
ethical governance matters;

3Page 40



4. To hear and consider complaints made against Members and co-opted
members under the Code of Conduct, codes of practice or protocols;

5. To adopt procedures for considering complaints made under the Code
of Conduct, codes of practice or protocols;

6. To consider whether to grant applications for dispensation to Members
and co-opted members, in accordance with Members’ Code of
Conduct; and

7. To maintain oversight of ethical governance training provided to
Members and co-opted members and make reports and
recommendations accordingly.

Members’ Code of Conduct

All Members on their election to office, and co-optees on their appointment, are
required to sign a declaration confirming that they will abide by the Members’ Code
of Conduct.

Training was delivered by the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer to
those members of the Council who were elected to the Council in May 2021.

Review of Members’ Code of Conduct

In 2019, the Local Government Association (LGA) produced a draft Model Code of
Conduct in response to the “Local Government Ethical Standards” report by the
Committee of Standards in Public Life in 2019. The report made a series of
recommendations in order to ensure that the governance of local authorities was
robust and took account of recent learning across the sector and the production of a
model Code of Conduct formed one component of this response. The model Code
of Conduct was adopted by the LGA in December 2020 following a period of
extensive consultation with local authorities around the country

In 2020, the Standards Committee established a Task and Finish Group to review
the LGA’s model Code of Conduct and consider whether the Council ought to adopt
it as a replacement for the existing Code of Conduct.

The Task and Finish Group continued to meet on a number of occasions during
2021/2022 and made a number of recommendations regarding alterations to the
model code which it considered better reflected the Council’s commitment to ensure
high standards of integrity by Councillors and Co-Optees.

In addition to the Code of Conduct itself, the Task and Finish Group also considered
two further documents which would sit alongside the Code itself. The first document
provides Councillors with guidance on the application of the proposed new
Councillors Code of Conduct and their obligations under the new Code whilst the
second is a procedural note setting out how complaints alleging a breach of the
Code will be assessed and investigated, including how and when any complaints
may be referred either to an Assessment Sub-Committee of the Standards
Committee or a Hearing Sub-Committee of the Standards Committee.

4Page 41



The culmination of this work was a report to the Standards Committee on 8 January
2022 proposing a recommendation that Full Council adopt a new Councillor Code of
Conduct (which also encompasses the Mayor and Co-Optees) to take effect after the
May 2022 elections.

The Committee also approved terms of reference for the standing Assessment
Sub-Committee and Hearing Sub-Committee.

On 26 January 2022, Full Council resolved to adopt the new Code of Conduct and
endorsed the guidance and procedural note.

Review of Register of Declaration of Interests Forms

Alongside the work on the new Councillor Code of Conduct, the opportunity was also
taken to further review the forms used by elected members to declare their interests
and also any gifts and hospitality over the value of £25 that might be accepted or
refused. The new forms will come into effect following the May 2022 elections. The
forms will be kept under continual review to ensure that they remain fit for purpose
and follow any best practice guidance. Further work is planned to fully enable
electronic completion of the forms.

Appointment of Independent Person

Following the retirement of Jonathan Stopes-Roe as the Council’s Independent
Person at the end of the 2020/2021 municipal year, the Council has appointed Feryal
Ertan to the role.

The appointment followed a recruitment, selection and interview process culminating
in a report to Full Council recommending Feryal’s appointment on 30 June 2021.

Feryal is a barrister, who is a member of 11 King’s Bench Walk, specialising in both
prosecution and defence work in criminal law and regulatory law. She also sits as an
independent member of the disciplinary panel for the London Football Association.

I was delighted to welcome Feryal and am grateful for the advice she has already
provided to the Committee and Monitoring Officer and I am sure she will continue to
be a great asset in this role.

Co-Optees

Membership of the Standards Committee comprises up to six non-voting co-optees
as well as Councillors and the Independent Person.

Following the end of the terms of office of a number of co-optees, two recruitment
campaigns for co-optees took place during the municipal year. Regrettably these
campaigns have not resulted in any appointments being made. However, we are
committed to conducting further recruitment campaigns during the 2022/2023
municipal year.

5Page 42



Aoiffe Scannell and Nicola Hanns continued their appointments as non-voting
co-optees throughout 2021/2022 and provided valuable assistance to the work of the
Standards Committee.

Complaints about Member Conduct

During 2021/2022 there were 14 complaints alleging a breach of the Code of
Conduct which were considered by the Monitoring Officer.

In considering any complaint alleging a breach of the Code of Conduct, the
Monitoring Officer is required whether she has jurisdiction to consider the complaint
and whether the complaint reaches the threshold for investigation.

In terms of the jurisdictional assessment, complaints will not pass this element if:

● The subject of the complaint is no longer an elected member or co-optee or
was not an elected member or co-optee at the time of the alleged conduct;

● The complaint is made anonymously, unless there is a clear public interest in
considering the complaint on an anonymous basis and the Monitoring Officer
determines that a fair investigation can be carried out;

● The same, or substantially the same, alleged conduct has been the subject of
a previous allegation under the Code of Conduct and there is nothing further
to be gained by considering the matter again;

● The complaint is essentially against the action of the Council as a whole and
cannot properly be directed against an individual;

● The complaint does not relate to the conduct of the person as either an
elected member or a co-optee;

● The complaint is a service complaint;

● The complaint is about conduct which is the subject of legal proceedings
against the Council involving the complainant; or

● The complaint is about an officer of the Council.

In terms of the threshold assessment the Monitoring Officer considers matters such
as the date of the conduct that is the subject of the complaint; whether the complaint
appears to be trivial, malicious, vexatious, politically motivated or tit-for-tat; whether
an investigation is in the public interest; whether there are alternative, more
appropriate remedies to resolve the complaint; whether the complaint is one of a
series of multiple complaints and whether the subject of the complaint was acting in
their capacity as an elected member or co-optee.

In reaching a decision on the threshold assessment, the Monitoring Officer is
required to consult the Independent Person and have regard to their views.

6Page 43



Of the 14 complaints received:

● All were submitted by members of the public

● 1 complaint was subsequently withdrawn by the complainant

● 1 complaint was not considered due to lack of information being provided by
the complainant.

● 12 did not meet the threshold for investigation, although words of advice were
subsequently offered by the Monitoring Officer to two Councillors.

As in previous years, the majority of complaints concerned posts appearing on social
media. The second most common cause for complaint related to elected members
not responding to resident enquiries, complaints or requests for assistance.

Dispensation Requests

Under the Council’s dispensation procedure, the Standards Committee is
responsible for considering requests for dispensations on the grounds that it is in the
interests of residents or that it is otherwise appropriate to grant dispensation for
some other reason.

During 2021/2022 there were no requests for dispensations made to the Standards
Committee.

Conclusion

The Committee has dealt with a wide variety of matters during 2021/2022. The
Committee’s aim is to continue to develop and maintain the Council’s ethical
governance framework for the benefit of the authority, elected members and
ultimately local people. The Committee is looking forward to the next municipal year.

Contacts

Monitoring Officer: Dawn Carter-McDonald
dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk

Deputy Monitoring Officer: Louise Humphreys
louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk

7Page 44

mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3a Minutes - Appendix A_ Unanswered Questions from Members
	3b Minutes - Appendix B_ Amendments to Motions

	4 Standards Committee Annual Report 2021/22
	4.1  Standards Committee Annual Report 21_22


